FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/8/2017 1:09 PM

Court of Appeals No. 74033-4-1 Superior Court No. 11-2-19682-8

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES C. FUDA, et al.,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

v.

KING COUNTY, et al.,

Defendants.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT

DORE LAW GROUP, PLLC James J. Dore, Jr., WSBA No. 22106 Attorney for Appellants 1122 West James Street Kent, Washington 98032

Ph: 253-850-6411 Fax: 253-850-3360

I. Identity of Petitioner

The Petitioners are James Fuda, Dorianne Beaupre, and Chad Beaupre (now deceased).

II. Court of Appeals Decision

Petitioners seek review of the decision issued by Division 1 of the Court of Appeals on October 9, 2017 (hereinafter "Decision").

III. Issue Presented for Review

Does creation of a county guardrail priority array entitle the county to discretionary immunity for failing to warn of or eliminate inherently dangerous conditions on a county roadway?

IV. Statement of the Case

Petitioners incorporate herein the Statement of Facts and Procedure Below set out on pages 6-21 of the Appellant's Opening Brief. The Court of Appeals affirmed all of the trial court's rulings and orders, which were based upon the mischaracterization of Petitioners' claim and the erroneous application of discretionary immunity to common law negligence in maintaining the Green River Road in a reasonably safe condition.

Petitioners seek review of all rulings by the Court of Appeals.

V. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

Under RAP 13.4(b), this Court may accept discretionary review of a Court of Appeals decision terminating review only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Petitioners seek review under RAP 13.4(b) (1), (2), and (4).

The Court of Appeals' Decision is contrary to decades of Washington law holding governmental entities liable for unsafe roads. Further, whether the doctrine of discretionary immunity shields a county from a claim of breach of its common law duties to warn of or eliminate dangerous conditions on its roads is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this court.

- A. The Court of Appeals' decision broadened the scope of discretionary immunity far beyond its intended narrow exception to waiver of sovereign immunity.
 - 1. The law governing liability for inherently dangerous conditions on a roadway has been long established in Washington.

King County has "a duty to provide reasonably safe roads and this duty includes the duty to safeguard against an inherently dangerous or

misleading condition."¹ In fact, it has a "duty to eliminate an inherently dangerous or misleading condition," which "is part of the overarching duty to provide reasonably safe roads for the people of this state to drive upon."² These common law duties were established nearly a century ago, and remain the law of this State to this date.³

This rule does nothing more nor less than impose upon a municipality the duty of maintaining its streets or highways in a reasonably safe condition for the users, and where the condition in or along the highway is inherently dangerous or deceptive . . . , the rule requires the municipality to reasonably and adequately warn of the hazard and maintain adequate protective barriers where such barriers are shown to be practical and feasible.⁴

Petitioners alleged in their complaints that King County had breached its duties to maintain the Green River Road in a safe condition because it failed to warn of or eliminate several inherently dangerous conditions on and alongside the Road, including (but not limited to) lack

-

¹ Owen v. Burlington N. & Santa Fe R.R. Co., 153 Wn.2d 780, 787-88, 108 P.3d 1220, 1223 (2005).

² *Id.* at 788, 108 P.3d 1220.

³ See, e.g., Gray v. King County, 140 Wn. 169, 172, 248 P. 397 (1926); Tyler v. Pierce County, 188 Wash. 229, 232, 62 P.2d 32 (1936); Lucas v. Phillips, 34 Wn.2d 591, 597, 209 P.2d 79 (1949); Bartlett v. Northern Pac. Ry. Co., 74 Wn.2d 881, 882, 447 P.2d 735 (1968); Raybell v. State of Washington, 6 Wn. App. 795, 802, 496 P.2d 559 (1972); Stewart v. State, 92 Wn.2d 285, 597 P.2d 101 (1979); Hansen v. Washington Natural Gas Co., 95 Wn.2d 773, 778, 632 P.2d 504 (1981) (citing Bartlett, 74 Wn.2d at 882, 447 P.2d 735); McCluskey v. Handorff-Sherman, 125 Wn.2d 1, 6, 882 P.2d 157 (1994); Owen, 153 Wn.2d, 787-788, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005); Wuthrich v. King County, 185 Wn.2d 19, 26, 366 P.3d 926 (2016).

⁴ Raybell v. State, 6 Wn. App. 795, 802, 496 P.2d 559 (1972) (citing Bartlett v. Northern Pac. Ry., 74 Wash.2d 881, 882, 447 P.2d 735 (1968); Provins v. Bevis, 70 Wn.2d 131, 422 P.2d 505 (1967)).

of a guardrail or other protective barrier⁵ where one was not only "practical and feasible," but necessary to eliminate a dangerous condition. Breach of the County's common law duties was Petitioners' sole theory in this case.

2. <u>The Court of Appeals adopted the County's</u> mischaracterization of Petitioner's singular claim.

In its Answer, the County pleaded "Plaintiffs' action against King County is precluded under the discretionary immunity doctrine." The County then dichotomized Petitioners' sole claim of common law negligence by creating out of whole cloth a separate "guardrail claim," and injected into this case the issue of the guardrail priority array during summary judgment proceedings:

[P]laintiffs claim that King County should be liable for failing to remove the leaves from the road. They also claim that various other claimed defects in the road caused the accident. . . . Finally, plaintiffs claim that there should have been a guardrail on the inside of the straight stretch of road after the curve[.]...

[P]laintiffs have insufficient evidence to support their guardrail claim. . . .[E]ven if the County's road design standards had called for guardrail, it would not have been installed for several years after this accident under the County's guardrail priority array program. Finally, the priority array program and the decisions applying it are protected by discretionary immunity and the separation of powers doctrine.⁷

⁷ CP 2534, lines 3-23; CP 2535, lines 1-3.

4

⁵ See CP 2461, lines 9-24; CP 2462, lines 1-10; CP 2499, lines 8-22; CP 2500, lines 1-23.

⁶ CP 13, lines 10-11.

The language cited above is from the County's Motion for Summary Judgment and is the first time in this case that any party asserted the existence of a "guardrail claim."

The County then drafted and the trial court signed the "Order Granting King County's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' Guardrail Claims," which refers to "Plaintiffs' guardrail claims," which stated:

- 1. King County's decision to remove the Green River Road from King County's guardrail priority array program is entitled to discretionary immunity.
- 2. Norton Posey's shoulder measurements constitute data gathering which is part of the decision making process. Accordingly it is also entitled to discretionary immunity.
- 3. To the extent Mr. Posey's actions could be characterized as implementing the priority array program, the undisputed testimony is that the guardrail still would not have been installed at the time of this incident given its position in the array.
- 4. For these reasons, Defendant King County's Motion for Summary Judgment regarding Plaintiffs' guardrail claims is granted.8

The so-called "guardrail claims" were invented by King County.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that Petitioners "argued" "the failure to install a guardrail is merely a component of [their] claim that the County was negligent in its duty to provide reasonably safe roads." Not

⁸ CP 3026.

⁹ Decision page 8 (emphasis by Court).

only did Petitioners "argue" that fact on appeal, it is what they pleaded and have "argued" since this case was initiated. 10

In spite of the pleadings and Petitioners' repeated attempts to correct the County's mischaracterization of their common law negligence claim in the record before it, the Court of Appeals wrote that Petitioners had alleged "that the County was negligent for removing the roadway from the priority array," and because Petitioners did "not contend that Posey was negligent in measuring the accident site or that the algorithm itself is defective," Petitioners "claim is either to the County's policy choice to use a priority array or its budget decision for guardrail implementation." These assertions and conclusion are unsupported in the record, and in fact, are contrary to the record in this case.

The County's successful dichotomy of Petitioners' single negligence claim into a negligence claim and a separate "guardrail claim" was a strategy of the County to prevent the jury from hearing facts and evidence about the failure to place a needed guardrail or other barrier to correct a dangerous and deceptive condition on the Green River Road.

3. As did the trial court, the Court of Appeals erroneously relied upon *Avellaneda v. State* to apply discretionary immunity to the County's alleged common law negligence.

During trial and the appeal, King County relied on Avellaneda v.

6

¹⁰ See, e.g., CP 3660, lines 8-25; CP 3661, lines 1-5.

State¹² to support its argument that it was entitled to discretionary immunity for failure to correct a dangerous condition by placing a guardrail or other barrier at the accident site, and the Court of Appeals cited and discussed *Avellaneda* as a case in which the trial court "correctly applied the doctrine of discretionary immunity . . . to a guardrail claim." This was error for several reasons.

First, there was no "guardrail claim" in *Avellaneda*. The device at issue was a cable barrier for a highway median. 14

Second, the *Avellaneda* plaintiffs did not contend that the State failed to provide a reasonably safe road by failing to warn of or eliminate inherently dangerous conditions on a roadway, as Petitioners did in this case. Rather, "the Avellanedas sued the State, alleging that the WSDOT negligently delayed constructing a cable barrier on SR 512" by failing to include it on its priority array. The *Avellaneda* court summarized the plaintiffs' claim: "[t]he Avellanedas ask us to invade the executive prerogative by permitting them to recover in tort **based on WSDOT's**decisions in drafting the budget proposal that excluded funding for the

¹¹ Decision, page 7.

¹²167 Wn. App. 474, 484-485, 273 P.3d 47 (2012).

¹³ Decision, page 7.

¹⁴ Avellaneda, 167 Wn. App at 476, 273 P.3d 477.

¹⁵ Avellaneda, 167 Wn. App. at 478, 273 P.3d 477.

SR 512 project."¹⁶ (Emphasis added).

Third, the act or omission challenged by the *Allevaneda* plaintiff was "the decision to exclude SR 512 from the budgetary priority array," not the failure to maintain SR 512 in a reasonably safe condition. There was no claim of inherently dangerous or deceptive conditions on SR 512 in *Avellaneda*.

Finally, the *Avellaneda* court applied the *Evangelical* factors not to failure to warn of or eliminate dangerous conditions on the roadway, but to the State's formulation of the priority array: "**formulating the priority** array here unequivocally satisfied all four *Evangelical* factors."

In contrast, the challenged act or omission in this case is the County's breach of its duty to warn of or eliminate inherently dangerous conditions on the Green River Road. Before the Court of Appeals' Decision in this case, no Washington appellate court granted discretionary immunity based on the formulation of a priority array where the plaintiff's claim was common law negligence for failure to maintain a roadway in a reasonably safe condition.

Regardless of the existence of a priority array, there is no immunity from failing to warn of or eliminate dangerous or deceptive conditions on a

¹⁶ Avellaneda, 167 Wn. App. at 487, 273 P.3d 477.

¹⁷ *Id.* at 481, 273 P.3d 477.

¹⁸ Avellaneda, 167 Wn. App at 483, 273 P.3d 477.

roadway: "the Legislature, in enacting laws governing the priority order of highway projects, RCW 47.05, did not grant the State immunity from liability for negligent design or maintenance of unfunded projects." ¹⁹

Not even the Department of Transportation (DOT) believes it has the immunity suggested by the majority. In 1991, at the request of DOT, Substitute Senate Bill 5721 was introduced. It would have immunized the State from liability for highway design, construction, or signing if such conformed to current engineering or design standards. However, the bill itself, in its declaration of legislative intent, stated: "However, it will not relieve government agencies, from meeting their public obligations to maintain safe roadways and facilities, nor to respond to public notice of unsafe conditions." Substitute Senate Bill 5721, 52d Legislature (1991).

The Legislature did not enact DOT's request for limited immunity. One can only conclude that the Legislature did not intend to create a special immunity for highway defects, as the majority would appear to want. It is significant that when the Legislature intends to provide immunity, it does so specifically as in qualified immunity for certain recreational uses, RCW 4.24.210; certain actions regarding mental illness evaluation and treatment, RCW 71.05.120; and militia's federal activities, RCW 38.40.025. The Legislature has not granted similar immunity for actions based on negligent highway design or maintenance; indeed, it has refused to do so.²⁰

The Court of Appeals' assertion that the *Avellaneda* court applied discretionary immunity "to the failure to construct a barrier based on the

¹⁹ McCluskey v. Handorff-Sherman, 68 Wn. App. 96, 106, 841 P.2d 1300 (1992), aff'd, 125 Wn.2d 1, 882 P.2d 157 (1994).

²⁰ McCluskey v. Handorff-Sherman, 125 Wn.2d 1, 15-16, 822 P.2d 157 (1994), Brachtenbach, J., (concurring in part, dissenting in part) (emphasis added).

State's priority array system"²¹ is simply wrong. Discretionary immunity was applied by the *Avellaneda* court to "the decision to exclude SR 512 from the budgetary priority array."²² The Court of Appeals erred in finding that *Avellaneda* provides authority to apply discretionary immunity in this case.

4. The Court of Appeals Decision is in conflict with numerous decisions of the Supreme Court and other decisions of the Court of Appeals.

No other appellate court has ruled that discretionary immunity applies in a case where the plaintiff alleges that a government entity failed to warn of or eliminate a dangerous condition of a roadway.

In *McCluskey v. Handorff-Sherman*, ²³ the plaintiff asserted that the State had "maintained a hazardous and unsafe roadway," and defendant State of Washington offered an instruction that the jury could "not find the Department of Transportation liable if it determined that the State acted in accordance with the priority programming law." ²⁴ The trial court refused the instruction and the Court of Appeals affirmed that refusal, writing "the State's immunity instruction is an incorrect statement of the law." ²⁵ The Court's decision here, which affirms a trial

10

²¹ Decision, page 8.

²² Avellaneda, 167 Wn. App at 481, 273 P.3d 477.

²³ 68 Wn. App. 96, 841 P.2d 1300.

²⁴ *Id.* at 111, 81 P.2d 1300.

²⁵ Id.

court's ruling that creation and implementation of a guardrail priority array immunized the County from a claim of maintaining a "hazardous and unsafe roadway," conflicts with *McCluskey*.

In *Owen v. Burlington Northern and Santa Fe R.R. Co.*, ²⁶ the Supreme Court explained that a municipality's duty to maintain its roadways in a reasonably safe condition includes the "duty to eliminate an inherently dangerous or misleading condition." The *Owen* court wrote that three issues were questions of fact in a case where a plaintiff alleges inherently dangerous or misleading conditions: (1) whether a roadway is reasonably safe for ordinary travel, and (2) whether a condition is inherently dangerous or misleading, and (3) the adequacy of the government's attempt to take corrective action. ²⁸ The court added that the "trier of fact must determine the adequacy of the corrective actions under <u>all</u> of the circumstances."

The Court of Appeals Decision conflicts with *Owen* because it affirms a trial court's exclusion of relevant and material facts about the circumstances that allegedly created inherently dangerous or misleading conditions at the accident site on the Green River Road, and also affirms a jury instruction stating:

²⁶ 153 Wn.2d 780,108 P.3d 1220 (2005).

11

²⁷ Owen, 153 Wn.2d at 788, 108 P.3d 1220.

²⁸ *Id*.

You may not use testimony regarding the presence or absence of guardrails or re-directional devices at the scene of the accident or at other locations along the Green River Road in determining whether King County was negligent in designing, constructing, maintaining, and repairing the Green River Road in a reasonably safe condition for ordinary travel or whether there was an inherently dangerous or deceptive condition at the accident location.³⁰

At pages 11-12 of the Decision, the Court of Appeals also affirmed the trial court's Order on Defendant King County's Motions in Limine, including grant of a motion to exclude any references to guardrails for the claims "that fall within the protections of discretionary immunity," a grant of motions to exclude any reference to guardrails from 1988 through 2015, and a grant of a motion to limit the testimony of Plaintiffs' expert Dr.

Toby Hayes "as it relates to the probability of death as result of the Volkswagen hypothetically impacting a guardrail." ³¹

The Decision is thus in conflict with many Supreme Court and Court of Appeals cases:

Our Supreme Court has consistently held that consideration of <u>all</u> of the surrounding circumstances is necessary to determine whether a particular roadway presented an unsafe condition. In determining whether a dangerous condition exists at a roadway and whether a municipality has breached its duty to maintain a roadway in a safe condition, the trier of fact may infer that a breach has occurred based on the totality of the relevant

²⁹ Owen, 153 Wn.2d at 798, 108 P.3d 1220.

³⁰ CP 2421.

³¹ CP 2231: CP 2233.

surrounding circumstances[.]³²

The County's assertion at page 53 of its Response Brief that there is no "inherently dangerous condition exception to discretionary immunity" is nonsensical, turns Washington law on its head, and would expand the narrow doctrine of discretionary immunity far beyond its bounds.

In general terms, RCW 4.92.090 waived state immunity from tort claims. "Discretionary governmental immunity in this state is an extremely limited exception" to that waiver of sovereign immunity. Even before the Legislature waived sovereign immunity in 1961, the Supreme Court recognized common law liability of a government entity for negligent highway design and maintenance, 34 and for decades, both the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals have decided cases involving questions of road design and maintenance under ordinary negligence law. Neither the Legislature nor any Washington court has granted discretionary immunity for negligence in designing, constructing, repairing or maintaining roadways in a reasonably safe condition. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's grant of discretionary immunity in this case.

³² Xiao Ping Chen v. City of Seattle, 153 Wn. App. 890, 909, 223 P.3d 1230, 1240 (2009) (emphasis added).

³³ Stewart v. State, 92 Wn.2d 285, 293, 597 P.2d 101, 106 (1979).

³⁴ See, e.g., Berglund v. Spokane County, 4 Wn.2d 309, 314-316, 103 P.2d 355 (1940); Davidson v. Snohomish County, 149 Wash. 109, 111, 270 P. 422 (1928) ("It is undoubtedly the law that it is the duty of a municipality to keep its bridges in a reasonably safe condition for travel.").

B. This petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Millions of vehicles, motorcycles, bicycles, and pedestrians use the roadways of government entities in this State every day of the year. Until the Decision in this case was handed down, Washington citizens had only to establish the elements of common law negligence to obtain damages for death or injuries resulting from inherently dangerous or deceptive conditions on public roadways.

The Court of Appeals Decision conflicts with established
Washington jurisprudence. Under the Decision, a county need only create
a budgetary priority array for road projects to be granted discretionary
immunity from suit for injuries resulting from a dangerous or deceptive
condition. Whether such a major change in Washington law should occur
should only be determined by the Supreme Court.

VI. Conclusion

In *McCluskey*, this Court wrote, "[r]esolution of the immunity question in highway improvement decisions must await a case in which the issue has been preserved for review."³⁶ This case presents that issue squarely. Because the Decision conflicts with Supreme Court cases and other decisions of the Court of Appeals and because this Petition involves

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