FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/8/2017 2:36 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95197-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES C. FUDA, et al., Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

v.

KING COUNTY, et al., Defendants.

KING COUNTY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Daniel L. Kinerk, WSBA #13537 Cindi S. Port, WSBA #25191 King County Prosecuting Attorney's Office 500 – 4th Avenue, Suite 900 Seattle, WA 98104-2316 (206) 296-8820 Paul J. Lawrence, WSBA #13557 Matthew J. Segal, WSBA #29797 Jamie L. Lisagor, WSBA #39946 Sarah S. Washburn, WSBA #44418 PACIFICA LAW GROUP LLP 1191 Second Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98101-3404 (206) 245-1700

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

The Court of Appeals rejected Plaintiffs' argument in their reply brief that "application of the *Evangelical* factors to the failure to install a guard rail is not warranted...because [their] overarching claim is not that the County negligently failed to install a guardrail, but that the County negligently failed to maintain the road in a safe condition." *Id.* at *4 n.6. The court explained that Plaintiffs were "not entitled to present the absence of the guardrail as a basis for negligence. [They were], however, entitled to present all of the other alleged negligent acts or omissions. The jury rejected the claim that any of those acts or omissions caused the deaths." *Id.* at *4.

The Court of Appeals also affirmed on the alternative, independent ground that "the uncontroverted evidence is that [Plaintiffs have] not established cause in fact." *Id.* at *3 n.4. The court held: "Therefore, even if we held that discretionary immunity does not apply, reversal on the guardrail issue would not be warranted, because [Plaintiffs have] not established cause in fact." *Id.* Finally, the court rejected Plaintiffs' other challenges to the trial court's orders in limine, jury instructions, and sanctions. *Id.* at *5-9.

V. ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs raise three grounds for review by this Court: first, that the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with a decision of this Court; second, that the decision is in conflict with a decision of the Court of Appeals²; and third, that the Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4); Pet. at 2. Review is not warranted on any of these grounds.

A. Plaintiffs Fail to Demonstrate a Conflict with Washington Precedent.

The Court of Appeals' discretionary immunity decision is consistent with well-settled authority holding that the government's discretionary acts, omissions, and decisions—including in the roadway

² Plaintiffs misquote RAP 13.4(b)(2). See Pet. at 2. RAP 13.4(b)(2) authorizes review if "the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals."

liability context—are immune from tort liability. This Court has never called into question the validity of the discretionary immunity doctrine in this context. Plaintiffs fail to establish any conflict and, accordingly, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

1. The Court of Appeals correctly applied settled law on discretionary immunity.

The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with decades of Washington authority on the discretionary immunity doctrine. Since this Court's decision in *Evangelical*, Washington's appellate courts uniformly recognize that discretionary acts, omissions, and decisions within the framework of the legislative, judicial, and executive processes of government "cannot and should not…be characterized as tortious however unwise, unpopular, mistaken, or neglectful a particular decision or act might be." *See Evangelical*, 67 Wn.2d at 253; *McCluskey*, 125 Wn.2d at 12-13; *Avellaneda*, 167 Wn. App. at 480-81. In *Evangelical*, this Court established four factors governing application of discretionary immunity:

 Does the challenged act, omission, or decision necessarily involve a basic governmental policy, program, or objective?
 Is the questioned act, omission, or decision essential to the realization or accomplishment of that policy, program, or objective as opposed to one which would not change the course or direction of the policy, program, or objective?
 Does the act, omission, or decision require the exercise of basic policy evaluation, judgment, and expertise on the part of the governmental agency involved? (4) Does the governmental agency involved possess the requisite constitutional, statutory, or lawful authority and duty to do or make the challenged act, omission, or decision?

Id. at 255.³ As this Court explained, "in any organized society there must be room for basic governmental policy decision and the implementation thereof, unhampered by the threat or fear of sovereign tort liability". *Id.* at 254. In other words, "it is not a tort for government to govern." *Id.* at 253 (quoting *Dalehite v. United States*, 346 U.S. 15, 57, 73 S. Ct. 956, 97 L. Ed. 1427 (1953) (Jackson, J., dissenting)); *see also Bodin v. City of Stanwood*, 130 Wn.2d 726, 740, 927 P.2d 240 (1996) (local governments are not "suret[ies] for every governmental enterprise involving an element of risk" (quoting *Evangelical*, 67 Wn.2d at 253)).

In addressing roadway liability, both this Court and the Court of Appeals have determined that discretionary immunity may apply to a governmental entity's policy decisions about where and when to install road improvements. In *McCluskey*, this Court addressed whether discretionary immunity applied to decisions not to fund certain roadway improvements as part of a legislatively authorized prioritization program. 125 Wn.2d at 12-13. Although the Court ultimately did not decide whether the State was entitled to

³ This Court has further clarified that discretionary immunity is limited to discretionary acts as opposed to ministerial or operational ones; that the decision must be the outcome of a conscious balancing of risks and advantages; and that the decision must be a basic policy decision by a high-level executive. *See Taggart v. State*, 118 Wn.2d 195, 214-15, 822 P.2d 243 (1992). Plaintiffs conceded these elements below and do not challenge the Court of Appeals' determination that these requirements are met.

immunity because the State had waived the argument, the Court stated that the *Evangelical* four-part test should apply to roadway improvements. *Id*.

In *Avellaneda*, the Court of Appeals followed the *McCluskey* Court's directive and held that discretionary immunity applied to the State's exclusion of an accident site on SR 512 from WSDOT's priority array for highway projects (specifically median barriers). 167 Wn. App. at 479.⁴ The court noted that discretionary immunity would not insulate the State from liability for negligent implementation of its priority program, but there (as here) the plaintiffs identified "no evidence in the record that the WSDOT was negligent in determining that the SR 512 project had a benefit/cost ratio of zero." *Id.* at 485 n.5.

Consistent with *Evangelical*, *McCluskey*, and *Avellaneda*, the Court of Appeals here appropriately applied the *Evangelical* factors and determined that the County's guardrail decisions were entitled to immunity from tort liability. *See Fuda*, 2017 WL 4480779 at *2-4. Notwithstanding that analysis, Plaintiffs do not even purport to evaluate the *Evangelical* factors. Rather, they argue the key discretionary immunity cases relied on by the Court of Appeals do not apply here. Specifically, Plaintiffs argue the County's duty to exercise ordinary care to eliminate inherently dangerous

⁴ The court also concluded that WSDOT's actions such as assigning priority and calculating benefit/cost ratios were protected by discretionary immunity. *Id.* at 484-85. These actions were "part of the decision-making process going into formulating the priority array". *Id.* at 484.

conditions in the repair and maintenance of its roads is triggered by the failure to place a guardrail or other barrier at the accident site even if discretionary immunity otherwise applies to the decision not to place a guardrail or other barrier at the accident site. Pet. at 6-10. But Plaintiffs' disagreement with the Court of Appeals' **adherence to Washington authority** does not create a "conflict" justifying discretionary review by this Court. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). And nothing in *Evangelical*, *McCluskey*, or *Avellaneda* supports Plaintiffs' theory to create a conflict.

2. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with Washington precedent cited by Plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs attempt to manufacture a conflict with prior decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. Yet, Plaintiffs point to no Washington case where, despite applying discretionary immunity, the court permitted a plaintiff to rely on the absence of an unfunded roadway improvement (e.g., guardrails) as part of a claim based on the general duty to maintain roadways. To the contrary, courts applying discretionary immunity in roadway liability cases have typically affirmed dismissal on summary judgment of all negligence claims against the government. For example, in *Jenson v. Scribner*, 57 Wn. App. 478, 479, 789 P.2d 306 (1990), the plaintiffs asserted negligent design, construction, and maintenance based on the State's failure to install a barrier at the accident

location. The court focused its attention on discretionary immunity because it was "determinative of th[e] appeal." *Id.* at 480 (declining to reach summary judgment ruling on proximate cause). The court then held the State was entitled to discretionary immunity and that immunity completely resolved the case. *Id.* at 481-83. That result is consistent with the *McCluskey* Court's analysis of the role of discretionary immunity in roadway liability cases, *see* 125 Wn.2d at 12-13 (discretionary immunity may apply where plaintiffs claimed the State maintained an unsafe roadway and should have installed a median barrier). *See* Resp. Br. at 36-38, 51-53.

Plaintiffs cite the **dissenting** portion of a concurrence/dissent in *McCluskey* (without clearly identifying this) in support of their assertion of a "general duty to maintain roadways" exception to discretionary immunity. Pet. at 9. Dissenting opinions, however, are not binding and do not establish a conflict in the law. *See In re Domingo*, 155 Wn.2d 356, 367, 119 P.3d 816 (2005). Plaintiffs similarly cite the Court of Appeals' decision in *McCluskey*, but fail to acknowledge that this Court criticized the lower court's discretionary immunity analysis therein, and then affirmed on other grounds. *See McCluskey*, 125 Wn.2d at 11-13 ("[T]he Court of Appeals' published discussion of immunity was incomplete." (citing *McCluskey v. Handorff-Sherman*, 68 Wn. App. 96, 841 P.2d 1300

(1992))).⁵ Critically, as noted above, the binding majority opinion in *McCluskey* supports the Court of Appeals' decision here. *See* Sect. V.A.1, *supra*. Plaintiffs thus not only fail to show any conflict with *McCluskey*, but also misleadingly cite to authority in an attempt to create one.

Plaintiffs claim the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Owen v. Burlington N. & Santa Fe R.R. Co.*, 153 Wn.2d 780, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005). *See* Pet. at 11. The Court of Appeals' decision on discretionary immunity cannot conflict with *Owen*, however, because *Owen* is not a discretionary immunity case. *Owen* merely states that governmental entities have a duty to provide reasonably safe roads, including by safeguarding against an inherently dangerous condition. The County does not dispute this general proposition. Indeed, Plaintiffs were permitted to argue this point at trial. *See Fuda*, 2017 WL 4480779 at *4.⁶

Unlike *Owen*, the County here argued (and the trial court and Court of Appeals agreed) that the County is entitled to discretionary immunity for its decision under its guardrail priority program not to place

⁵ Further, the Court of Appeals' *McCluskey* decision predates *Avellaneda*, where the Court of Appeals applied discretionary immunity in favor of the State in the roadway liability context.

⁶ Plaintiffs called lay and expert witnesses in support of all of these claims. *See, e.g.*, RP (Jul. 21, 2015) at 197-201; RP (Jul. 22, 2015) at 339-40, 375-79, 380-82; RP (Jul. 23, 2015) at 669, 678-81; RP (Jul. 27, 2015) at 757-61, 765, 770, 776, 822-31, 835-37, 839, 840, 843-48; RP (Jul. 29, 2015) at 1071-72, 1076-77, 1117-18, 1139-40, 1146-47; RP (Jul. 30, 2015) at 1232-35, 1241-42, 1280; RP (Aug. 3, 2015) at 1418-22, 1482-84, 1488-89; RP (Aug. 6, 2015) at 530-31; RP (Aug. 10, 2015) at 619-20; RP (Aug. 12, 2015) at 904; RP (Aug. 13, 2015) at 1234, 1239-40, 1247.

a guardrail at the accident site. Thus, *Owen* does not give rise to a conflict. *See Stewart v. State*, 92 Wn.2d 285, 294, 299, 597 P.2d 101 (1979) (cited in Pet. at 13 n.33; discussing the State's duty to maintain roadways in reasonably safe condition but noting that certain decisions with respect to roadways involve a basic governmental policy, program or objective within the discretionary immunity framework).⁷

In sum, Plaintiffs fail to demonstrate conflict with any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

B. This Case Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Plaintiffs reference this ground for review, but cover it in two paragraphs without any citations to authority or the record. Plaintiffs' cursory treatment rests entirely on their false premise that the Court of Appeals' decision constitutes a "major change" in Washington law. *See* Pet. at 14. As explained above, it does not. The decision reflects a thoughtful and thorough analysis and application of *Evangelical* and its progeny to the unique facts of this case.

⁷ Plaintiffs cite without discussion several other cases, *see* Pet. at 13 n. 32-35, all of which stand for the same general principle as *Owen*, i.e., that government entities have a duty to maintain their roadways in reasonably safe condition. These cases fail to establish a conflict for the same reasons discussed above.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals' opinion does not, as Plaintiffs contend, allow a governmental entity to insulate itself from liability for dangerous or deceptive road conditions just by establishing a priority array program to determine when and where to install roadway improvements. Again, as the Court of Appeals noted, Plaintiffs were entitled to bring claims on negligent design at inception or negligent implementation of the priority array program (but Plaintiffs did not, waiving such claims). And Plaintiffs were entitled to present "all of the other alleged negligent acts or omissions" to the jury which "rejected the claim that any of those acts or omissions caused the deaths." *Fuda*, 2017 WL 4480779 at *4. No issue of substantial public interest is presented.

C. Discretionary Review Would Be Pointless Because the Court of Appeals Affirmed on Alternative, Independent Grounds.

Finally, this Court should deny review because Plaintiffs fail to seek review of the Court of Appeals' independent basis for affirming the trial court's orders related to guardrails. Plaintiffs' Petition raises a single question: "Does creation of a county guardrail priority array entitle the county to discretionary immunity for failing to warn of or eliminate the inherently dangerous conditions on a county roadway?" Pet. at 1.⁸ This is

⁸ The question, so stated, is also misleading. As discussed *supra*, although Plaintiffs were not permitted to assert claims concerning guardrails, they argued to the jury that the County should be held liable for failure to warn and/or eliminate an inherently dangerous

the only issue subject to review (if review is granted). See RAP 13.7(b) (limiting issues reviewed by this Court to those "raised in...the petition for review and the answer"); Clam Shacks of Am., Inc. v. Skagit Cnty., 109 Wn.2d 91, 98, 743 P.2d 265 (1987) (rejecting argument that an appeal of part of a Court of Appeals decision amounts to a request to review every aspect of that decision); Garth Parberry Equip. Repairs, Inc. v. James, 101 Wn.2d 220, 225 n.2, 676 P.2d 470 (1984) (failure to raise issues in petition for review "resulted in their waiver"); Clayton v. Wilson, 168 Wn.2d 57, 68-69, 71, 227 P.3d 278 (2010) (noting that even "if we were to reverse on the two claimed grounds" for voiding the property transfer at issue, "the two [alternative] grounds not raised [in the petition] each independently applies—and independently voids the transfer"). But the Court of Appeals held that even if discretionary immunity did not apply, "reversal on the guardrail issue would not be warranted, because [Plaintiffs have] not established cause in fact." Fuda, 2017 WL 4480779 at *3 n.4. Thus, even if Plaintiffs were to succeed on the discretionary immunity issue, the outcome would be the same.⁹ For this additional reason, the Court should deny the Petition.¹⁰

condition based on numerous other acts and omissions. See Fuda, 2017 WL 4480779 at *4.

⁹ On summary judgment, the County argued that it was entitled to discretionary immunity for decisions and actions taken under its priority array program, and that even if guardrail were warranted, it would not have been installed until well after the accident

VI. CONCLUSION

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